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INTRODUCTION


Glasgow. Complex. Contradictory. Chaotic. An architectural wonderland. A sporting Valhalla. A cultural and economic dynamo. A mess of historical and contemporary social poisons, from poverty to secta-rianism. The former second city of the Empire. The ‘dear green place’. The heart of Red Clydeside. The home of heavy industry. The anti-Edinburgh.


Glasgow is one of the great European cities; which means there is so much to say about it that this book could easily have been twice the length. Or, alternatively, an entirely different Little Book of Glasgow could have been written, stuffed to the gills with a completely variant set of trivia, facts, bizarre historical titbits, artistic achievements and peculiarities of animal and human behaviour. Here is my selection of oddities and quiddities plucked from space and time. If you do know Glasgow, I hope it will shine a light on areas that were previously in shadow, and if you are new to the city, welcome to its leftfield wonders.


My thanks go out to all the librarians without whom the writing of this book would have been a horror beyond comprehension, and also to the authors of the many splendid books that I have plundered for items juicy or bejewelled.


The images have been taken from a number of Victorian and Edwardian sources, including Punch, The Scottish Nation Illustrated, Pearson’s Magazine, The Quiver and The Biographical Dictionary of Eminent Scotsmen.
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PLACES –


HERE & NOW,


THEN & THERE


PREHISTORIC DAYS


In 1938 Ludovic MacLellan Mann uncovered what he thought was a prehistoric druid complex at Knappers Quarry off Great Western Road. His entirely bogus reconstruction of ‘Scotland’s Stonehenge’ attracted thousands of visitors and earned him the derision of archaeologists. Recent reassessment has shown that although he may have been away with the fairies when it came to druids and ritual sacrifice, he may have actually found a Bronze Age timber monument. Sadly the site was obliterated by high-rise housing after the Second World War.


Urban development has eradicated most of Glasgow’s prehistoric sites. As late as 1973 a standing stone on Boydstone Road was removed for road widening. The Kelvingrove Museum has a very good display of grave goods found in prehistoric burial cists.


Also in the museum are more than 250 items recovered from a crannog in Bishop’s Loch in about 1905. Crannogs are dwellings erected in lakes, and this one was occupied in the Early Iron Age, from about 700 BC.


WHAT DID THE ROMANS EVER DO FOR US?


Between AD 142 and 144 the Romans built the turf-and-earth Antonine Wall between the Firth of Clyde and the Firth of Forth – the narrowest ‘neck’ of Scotland. The wall and the accompanying Military Way passed just north of Glasgow, with several stretches still extant, and a fort can be seen at Bearsden. The Hunterian Museum has an excellent collection of inscribed stones from the wall. The Antonine Wall was abandoned after only twenty years, the army withdrawing south to Hadrian’s Wall.


[image: image]


Part of the Antonine Wall runs through the course of Cawder Golf Club, formerly Cawder House, on the banks of the Kelvin. The clubhouse holds a legionary stone inscribed, ‘The 2nd Legion Augustus built this’.


THE EARLIEST GLASGOW – ST KENTIGERN


Little is known of Glasgow in the Dark Ages. A church was founded here in the sixth century by St Kentigern, also known more familiarly as St Mungo. The site was where the cathedral stands now, at the time on the banks of the fast-flowing Molendinar, a mile north of the sluggish Clyde. From this tiny beginning grew a Christian settlement which slowly gained in political power and commercial acumen.


Legend has it St Mungo performed four miracles in Glasgow, commemorated on the City of Glasgow’s coat of arms, depicting a tree with a bird perched on its branches and a salmon and a bell on either side.


What everyone ‘knows’ about St Kentigern derives from a hagiography (the biography of a saint) written by a Cumbrian monk called Jocelyn of Furness Abbey, almost six centuries after Kentigern died. Jocelyn himself admitted his Life of Kentigern was partly based on legend and invention. The real power behind the hagiography was Bishop Jocelin, who in the 1180s was determined to have Kentigern declared a saint – and a biography stuffed with miracles and divine wonders was part of his propaganda campaign. Once the Pope sanctified Kentigern, Glasgow became a magnet for spiritual pilgrims, enhancing the town’s reputation – and bringing in piles of donations. As far as medieval cathedrals and bishops were concerned, medieval saintliness was about two things – power and money.


MEDIEVAL GLASGOW AND THE CATHEDRAL


Glasgow in the Middle Ages was little more than a village, however, it did have a cathedral, and that made it a centre of power.


The cathedral was almost not sited in Glasgow at all. The obvious first choice was Govan, which in the eleventh century had a preeminent religious status within the area. But when David I became king, he rejected Govan because it was associated with the previous royal dynasty. David needed his own power base, and so sometime between 1113 and 1124 he created the position of the Bishop of Glasgow, and started building a cathedral to be the centre of the diocese. Govan was sidelined and declined into insignificance.


Glasgow’s elevation to a bishopric, thus becoming the principal church in the West of Scotland, marks the moment the town started to become a force in the land. Then, in 1175, it was made a Burgh of Barony, meaning it could control its own trade and politics. The older Royal Burghs of Dumbarton and Rutherglen had their noses put out of joint – but Glasgow had arrived, and power politics in Scotland would never be the same again.


The diocese of the Bishop of Glasgow stretched all the way to the Solway Firth and the English border, incorporating 200 parishes and generating huge sums in rents and other income. Within Glasgow itself the bishops had all the power and prestige of a great lord – basically, they ruled Glasgow and what the bishop said, went.


Several serious fires and the scale of the building project meant that the cathedral was a construction site for centuries. The first cathedral was consecrated in 1136. What we see today is largely the third building, mostly built in the thirteenth century, although major alterations continued for another 100 years.


GLASGOW CATHEDRAL – SOME FACTS


The cathedral is partly built on a steep slope, a site no sensible mason would have chosen. The reason was simple – it was erected over the traditional spot of Kentigern’s grave, and piety trumped practicality.


The cathedral was known as ‘the Pride of Lanarkshire’, but the extended building programme also brought comparisons with Penelope’s Web from Greek mythology – for neither would ever be finished.


Part of the south transept was called the Dripping Aisle after a persistent leak.


The cathedral was built as a pilgrimage shrine for the relics of St Kentigern. The cult of St Kentigern was expressly modelled on that of the English martyr St Thomas à Becket, and strong corporate links were forged between the cathedrals of Glasgow and Canterbury. Glasgow even ended up with some of Becket’s relics. Relics were a key part of the attraction of visiting a medieval cathedral, as their presence was supposed to create healing miracles. By the fifteenth century Glasgow Cathedral had purchased or otherwise acquired well over twenty significant relics, making it the premier pilgrimage destination in Scotland and northern England. Among its alleged treasures were:


A piece of the True Cross


Part of Jesus’ manger from the stable at Bethlehem


Some hairs from the head of the Blessed Virgin Mary, plus a piece of her girdle


Bones from St Bartholomew (one of the original twelve Apostles), St Thomas of Canterbury, St Magdalene, St Ninian, St Eugene, St Blaze, and St Kentigern (and his mother, St Thenew)


Part of St Martin’s cloak (the Bible describes him cutting up his cloak to clothe a beggar)


A small phial containing the breast milk of the Virgin Mary


Sadly all these items, along with reliquaries of silver and gold decorated with precious stones, all vanished after the Reformation – some were taken for safekeeping to Paris, where they disappeared following the French Revolution.


The senior team at the cathedral were called prebends or canons. Each prebend had a substantial stone-built manse or town house on one of the principal streets such as Rottenrow, Drygate or Castle Street. Provand’s Lordship, now a museum, is the last remaining of these privileged dwellings.


By 1484 Glasgow was elevated to an archbishopric, the high-water mark in the city’s ruthless climb through the layers of medieval religious power-politics. The move really miffed the Archbishop of St Andrews – the ancient diocese of St Andrews had been trying to take over or limit the power of the upstart Glasgow for 300 years.


In 1545 two rival archbishops, from St Andrews and Glasgow, met at the door of the cathedral, each claiming superiority over the other. All concerned were deeply learned men of the cloth, and so the dispute was solved in the obvious way – by a punch-up. At one point the two archbishops were clubbing each other with their respective archiepiscopal crosses. All this infighting was rendered moot when the bishops were swept away by the Scottish Reformation in 1560.


From the 1580s the gloom-filled crypt, formerly the focus for Catholic saint-devotion, was used as a place of worship for members of the Barony parish, effectively splitting the cathedral into two Protestant churches. When the Barony parishioners moved out in 1798 they filled the crypt with a layer of earth and used it as a burial ground, complete with gravestones and iron railings. This state of affairs continued until 1835, when the crypt was cleared out and restored to its original condition.


During the Second World War the crew of a motor torpedo boat crew found a ‘lucky’ ladybird on board. When they were subsequently attacked and sunk, all the men managed to survive. In gratitude they presented a canopied chair to the cathedral – with a tiny decoration of a ladybird in one corner.


GLASGOW CASTLES


They may not be well known, but Glasgow’s castles are out there and can be visited.


Bothwell Castle in Uddingston is a magnificent and massive medieval ruin cared for by Historic Scotland. Highly recommended.


Crookston Castle off Brockburn Road is Glasgow’s best ‘unknown’ castle, with remains from the twelfth through to the fifteenth centuries. It was the first property presented to the National Trust for Scotland (in 1931) and is now cared for by Historic Scotland.


Mearns Castle near Newton Mearns is a fifteenth-century restored tower, now partly incorporated in the Maxwell Mearns parish church.


Quite a bit remains of the seventeenth century L-plan tower house of Gilbertfield Castle, which still totters south of Cambuslang.


THIRTEEN LOST CASTLES


It is hard these days to think of Glasgow as a city of castles, and indeed there was never anything here as grand as the royal fortresses of Edinburgh or Dumbarton, or even the castellated piles of the great nobles. But, once upon a time, Glasgow was awash with smaller castles and towers. Here are some of those that have vanished.


1.The principal castle was the Bishop’s Castle, which stood where the Royal Infirmary does today. More of a fortified tower than a fortress, it was built before 1258 and fell into decline after the Reformation, its stones finally being carted away in 1752 (to build the first Saracen’s Head Inn).


2& 3. The medieval bishops of Glasgow also had a moated castle and hunting lodge at Lochwood, Easterhouse, and a residence on the west bank of the Kelvin, known as Partick Castle. The former was destroyed in 1579, while parts of the latter survived until the early nineteenth century.


4.Renfrew Castle was the ancestral home of what later became the royal House of Stuart, although every stone vanished centuries ago. The heir to the throne of the United Kingdom still has official claim on the jurisdiction, which is why one of Prince Charles’ titles is ‘Baron of Renfrew’.


5.Rutherglen Castle saw several sieges and changes of ownership until it was burned after the Battle of Langside in 1568. The last remains were removed in the eighteenth century.


6.There were three successive Pollok Castles: the first a wooden structure built in 1160, the second a stone tower erected in 1270 and the final a larger castle constructed in about 1500. Although replaced by the Georgian mansion of Pollok House in 1752, part of the last castle remained standing until a fire in 1882.


7.Drumsagard Castle, a fourteenth-century nobleman’s residence near Cambuslang, was demolished in the 1770s and the stones reused to build a farm.


8.The Doomster or Moot Hill, which was probably a twelfth-century Norman motte for a timber castle, used to be a prominent feature north of Govan Cross. It was removed in the early nineteenth century to make way for a dyeworks.


9.Part of a seventeenth-century tower house survived until 1870 on Main Street in Gorbals. The site is now partly occupied by the Citizens Theatre.


10.The sixteenth-century Peel of Drumry in Drumchapel was destroyed by Glasgow Corporation in 1958.


11.After undergoing many changes over the centuries, Castlemilk Castle met the corporation’s wrecking ball in the 1960s.


12.Fifteenth-century Farme Castle in Rutherglen was ruinous by the late nineteenth century. The keep was finally demolished in the 1960s – by Glasgow Corporation.


13.The last castle demolished by the council was the fifteenth-century Cathcart Castle in Linn Park, which was reduced to its foundations in 1980.


THE NAME ‘GLASGOW’


The persistent popular belief is that the city’s name is derived from a Gaelic phrase, Glas-cu, meaning ‘dear green place’. But as the man said, ‘it ain’t necessarily so’.


For a start, no-one was speaking Gaelic in the Glasgow area. Gaelic was brought over to the west coast of Scotland by the Dalriadans of Ireland in the Dark Ages. People in early Glasgow, which was part of the enormous Kingdom of Strathclyde stretching to beyond the Mersey, would have spoken a version of Welsh.


Secondly, there is the difficulty of authentic spelling: the name was written as ‘Glasgu’ in 1116, ‘Glasgow’ in 1158 and ‘Cleschu’ in 1185. Depending on what etymologist you read, the name could therefore include the Old Welsh for ‘river’, or ‘blue’, or even ‘greyhound’.


So in truth, no-one really knows what ‘Glasgow’ actually means.


PLACE-NAME PECULIARITIES


The name Trongate is derived from the ‘tron’, the beam used to measure the weight of all goods brought into the city for sale. Trongate first appears on a document in 1560.


‘Gate’ did not mean ‘gate’, as in a door in a wall. A Scottish ‘gate’ was a main thoroughfare, as in Bridgegate, ‘the road to the bridge’, and Gallowgate, ‘the road to the gallows’.


If you look around the junction of Byres Road and Dowanside Road you will see the inscription ‘Victoria Cross’. This is a relic of an attempt to rename Byres Road in honour of Queen Victoria – the attempt foundered on local resistance, and Victoria Cross was never instigated.


Nineteenth-century Bath Street was home to many doctors, and was therefore known as the Valley of the Shadow of Death.


SOME UNUSUAL STREET NAMES


Mossend has more names inspired by mythology than any other area in Glasgow, with streets named for Neptune, Midas, Phoenix, Hermes, Leander, Triton and Pegasus. Renfrew boasts Hercules and Lysander, while Springburn, rather appropriately as it was a manufactory of locomotives, has Vulcan and Atlas. Athena, Neptune and Minerva manifest in Tannochside, Govan and the city centre respectively.


Apollo Path and Gemini Grove in Holytown are named after American space missions (which were of course named after figures from mythology).


Exotica: Bellshill boasts a Babylon Road, there’s a Kew Gardens in Viewpark, and Chryston is home to The Everglades.


Street names in Knightswood and Temple, drawing on the area’s alleged links with the Knights Templar, are a rich skein of medieval references. You can find arms and armour: Mace, Glaive, Gorget, Chaplet, Tabard and Baldric; job descriptions: Crusader, Minstrel, Templar, Thane, Palmer, Herald, Warden and Pikeman; and a slew of associated words such as Moat, Turret, Friarscourt, Monksbridge and Saxon. The streets also forge a thematic connection with Sir Walter Scott’s medieval romance Ivanhoe – with character names such as Ivanhoe himself, plus Rowena, Baldwin, Cedric and Waldemar.
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Street names with supernatural associations include Bogleshole Road in Cambuslang (a bogle is a spirit), Warlock Drive and Road in Bridge of Weir, Fairyknowe Court and Gardens in Bothwell, and Witchwood Court in Coatbridge. The path now occupied by Bellgrove Street in the East End used to be known as Witch Loan.


One-off streetname oddities include: Fifty Pitches Road in Hillington, Tak-ma-doon Road in Kilsyth, Jacob’s Ladder in Overtown, Grudie Street and Sielga Place in Easterhouse, Hurly Hawkin in Bishopbriggs, Fossil Grove in Kirkintilloch, Gowkthrapple near Wishaw, Wamba Avenue in Westerton, Ulundi Road in Johnstone and, in Temple, a certain Hemlock Street.


Twenty-four different species of birds appear in Glasgow street names:


Cormorant


Crow


Curlew


Eagle


Falcon


Finch


Heron


Kestrel


Lapwing


Lark


Mallard


Peacock


Plover


Raven


Robin


Sheldrake


Swallow


Swan


Swift


Teal


Tern


Thrush


Whimbrel


Wren
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In contrast, the only animal on display is in Viewpark, which has a Gopher Avenue.


STREET STATISTICS


In the full index of current streets in Greater Glasgow, the most common name is ‘Victoria’, with 58 examples.


The second most popular street name is ‘Park’, with 44 entries, followed closely by the 42 uses of ‘Station’. Of the latter, 32 are Station Roads.


‘Main Street’ appears 33 times, ‘High Street’ twelve times, ‘Mill’ scores 29, ‘Maxwell’ 28, ‘Morar’ 26 and ‘Meadow(s)’ 21. Other high achievers are ‘Maple’ (24 times), ‘Manse’ (20 examples) and ‘Manor’ with 13 entries. Of course, some of these high scores come from the modern tendency to use the same root-name many times, as in Maple Street, Way, Road, Avenue, Court and so on.


There are no street names or place-names in Glasgow beginning with the letter ‘X’.


LISTED BUILDINGS


There are 1,824 listed buildings in Glasgow, although ‘building’ isn’t always the right word, as the range of ‘items of architectural merit’ includes entire terraces, as well as lamp-posts, postboxes and former police boxes. In fact, 15 per cent of all listed buildings in Glasgow are Grade A, which means they are of national or international importance.


As you might expect the A-listed buildings include many well-known attractions and historic buildings such as the People’s Palace, the Kelvingrove Art Gallery and Museum, Provand’s Lordship, the Gallery of Modern Art, the Necropolis and the Bridge of Sighs, the Kibble Palace in the Botanic Gardens, Pollok House, the Tolbooth steeple, Crookston Castle, Provan Hall, and the National Trust for Scotland’s Hutcheson’s Hospital on Ingram Street.


Perhaps less predictable is the number of industrial and commercial sites that are A-listed. These include:


The Govan Shipbuilders Offices and Store on Govan Road.


The Sentinel Works in Jessie Street, Polmadie, designed by Archibald Leitch and Glasgow’s first reinforced concrete building.


The old fishmarket (the Briggait).


The former Prince’s Dock Hydraulic Power Station on Mavisbank Road.


Govan Graving Docks.


The Smith Mirrlees engineering works on West Street.


Arthur’s Warehouse on Miller Street, Gardner’s Warehouse on Jamaica Street, (an iron-frame, concrete-clad warehouse on McPhater Street in Cowcaddens, graded A for the very advanced construction method), and a warehouse on Watson Street featuring decoration borrowed from the style of Alexander ‘Greek’ Thomson (see page 19).


The Templeton Carpet Factory by Glasgow Green.


The Scottish Ambulance Building on Milton Street.


The former North British Diesel Engine Works on South Street, along with its 150-ton Titan Crane.


The Stobcross (Finnieston) Crane, the 175-ton giant cantilever crane which is now a quayside icon.


Other less obvious A-listers are the open-air shelter at Bridgeton Cross, the Horseshoe pub on Drury Street, Argyll Arcade including Sloan’s Café (the arcade was Scotland’s earliest indoor shopping mall, opened in 1824), the former Waverley cinema in Shawlands, the former Hillhead picture house (now the Salon restaurant) and the water tower of Ruchill Hospital.


Perhaps the most unusual A-listed structure in Glasgow is an Edwardian multi-storey car park. When cars were new and rare, parking on the street was illegal and undesirable, and for city householders who did not have a stable or mews house to convert into a garage, a public car park was essential. The two-storey structure on Vinicombe Street in Hillhead was purpose-built for the early motorists of the West End, and is probably the earliest surviving example of a public garage in Scotland.


Glasgow is a city where A-listed buildings often come in clusters, creating a collective urban landscape of exceptional architectural quality. One classic cluster is George Square, with the City Chambers, many of the surrounding buildings, the statues and even the lampbrackets. Other clusters can be found in the upmarket Park Circus development, and several West End terraces and streetscapes. In addition, dozens upon dozens of buildings on the principal city centre streets are A-listed, reflecting Glasgow’s status as the country’s leading centre of municipal and commercial Victorian architecture.


Another group within the A list features the former homes of Glasgow’s commercial and industrial barons, such as Aikenhead House on Carmunnock Road, Redclyffe on Balgrayhill Road (designed by Charles Rennie Mackintosh), Tollcross House in Tollcross Park, Camphill House in Queen’s Park, Craigie Hall in Dumbreck, and Woodbank on Partickhill Road.


Even more humble dwellings can be A-graded, such as 162–70 Gorbals Street (which incorporates the former British Linen Bank), the tall gushet Mercat Building on the London Road/Gallowgate junction, and even a tower block at Anniesland Court.


Almost thirty Glasgow churches are A-listed, as are all three of the city’s cathedrals – Glasgow Cathedral, the Roman Catholic St Andrew’s Cathedral on Clyde Street, and St Mary’s Episcopal Cathedral on Great Western Road. Other A-listed religious buildings are the Hill Street Synagogue in Garnethill, and the Hindu Mandir on La Belle Place (formerly the Queen’s Rooms).


Much of Glasgow University is A-listed, including the sixteenth-century Lion and Unicorn Staircase, and the entrance lodge, both of which were transported stone-by-stone from the university’s original site in Townhead.


Other educational institutions similarly honoured are the Glasgow School of Art, the Martyrs’ School, Notre Dame High School on Observatory Road, the former Scotland Street School, Kelvinside Academy, St Mungo’s School Annexe on Duke Street, and Our Lady & St Francis Secondary School on Greendyke Street.


Public buildings that have achieved the highest architectural accolade number Langside Hall on Langside Avenue, Pollokshields Burgh Hall, part of the High Court, the former Sheriff Court on Ingram Street (now the Corinthian), the Pearce Institute in Govan, the Lodge of the Southern Necropolis and the Elder Park Library.


Elder Cottage Hospital, plus part of Leverndale Hospital, and the garden of the Gartnavel Royal Hospital, are all A-listed, as are the Theatre Royal, the King’s Theatre, the Tron Theatre and the Mitchell Theatre.


Central station and the Central Hotel, along with the former St Enoch underground station on St Enoch Square, are both A-listed. The modernised Queen Street station itself is not A-listed, but the accolade is granted to its Victorian train shed and Cathedral Street Bridge.


The Nelson Monument and the Doulton Fountain in Glasgow Green, the statue of Mrs John Elder in Elder Park, the Lord Roberts Memorial and the Stewart Memorial Fountain in Kelvingrove Park, the equestrian statue of King William III near the cathedral and a cast iron fountain in Alexandra Park – all these are A-listed.


The most famous statue on the A list is that of the Duke of Wellington on Queen Street. The head of the equestrian sculpture is almost always fitted with a traffic cone – it even features that way in the opening credits of Taggart.


ALEXANDER ‘GREEK’ THOMSON


Charles Rennie Mackintosh aside (see page 158), Glasgow’s most famous home-grown architect is Alexander Thomson (1817–85), known as ‘Greek’ Thomson for his use of design motifs from the ancient world. His most visible work is the enormous St Vincent Street church, which looks like a cross between a Greek temple and something out of ancient Egypt. It is a marker of Thomson’s unique style.


Thomson’s Caledonia Road church in Gorbals is now a fire-damaged shell, but a striking landmark nonetheless. His truly extraordinary Queen’s Park church in Langside Road – which combined elements from Egypt, Greece and India – was destroyed by a German bomb in 1943.


Holmwood House in Cathcart, one of Thomson’s best surviving works, is currently being renovated by the National Trust for Scotland – visitors can see the conservation work in progress.


Other works by Thomson – many of which are Grade A-listed – include:


The Buck’s Head Building on Argyle Street, erected on the site of the famous Buck’s Head Inn.


An office block on West Nile Street.


The lower part of the Grosvenor Building in Gordon Street.


The Grecian Chambers on the north side of Sauchiehall Street.


The warehouse and shops complex of the Egyptian Halls on Union Street.


‘Castlehill’ and ‘Ellisland’, a pair of suburban villas on Nithsdale Road.


‘Maria Villa’, a double villa on Mansionhouse Road in Langside.


The curved tenement block of Walmer Crescent, in Cessnock.


Thomson’s own house on Moray Place in Strathbungo.


Thomson’s gravestone is in the Southern Necropolis, a spooky black marble quasi-Egyptian structure installed in 2006 to replace the vandalised original.


CHURCHES


The design of the neo-Gothic Kelvinside Hillhead church on Saltoun Street was inspired by the thirteenth-century Sainte Chapelle in Paris.


The Barony North Church on Castle Street, aka the Evangelical Church, was inspired by the High Renaissance buildings of Rome, right down to the huge statues of the four evangelists on the balustrade.


The former Ramshorn Kirk on Ingram Street was the place of worship for many of the city’s elite. Its superb Victorian stained-glass windows were put in storage at the start of both world wars. When the panels were last restored, just one error was made, with the texts for Abraham and Jacob wrongly interchanged – not bad for an astonishingly complex task involving thousands of separate pieces of coloured glass.


Govan Old Parish Church hosts one of the finest collections of Early Christian stones in Britain, dating from the tenth and eleventh centuries. There was originally a monastery on the site.


THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS


This grandiose Italian Renaissance building dominating George Square is arguably the apogee of Victorian municipal confidence. When the foundation stone was laid in 1883, 600,000 people attended the event or watched the associated parades – all helped by the declaration of an official city-wide holiday.


The Chambers took six years and £578,232 to build. When they were opened to the public in 1889, some 400,000 people visited over ten days.


In the late eighteenth century the land on which the Chambers were later to stand was sold by the council for £645, or 2s 8d per square yard. When the council bought it back in 1878, the asking price was £173,000, or £35 15s per square yard – so it was 268 times more expensive than the original sale.


Among the many names in the VIP visitors’ book is that of Nelson Mandela, who received the Freedom of the City in 1993. A square nearby was renamed Nelson Mandela Place in his honour.


The exterior of the Chambers displays the standard measurements designed to ensure fair trading by everyone from shopkeepers to architects – so we have the standard inch, foot, two foot and yard. The 100ft measure, plus two now-archaic lengths, the chain and link, can be found by the North Lawn in George Square.


The Council Chambers are open for guided tours most weekdays. Go – the interiors are outstandingly elaborate.


THE GEORGE SQUARE STATUES


George Square, named for King George III, is a veritable forest of sculpture. Some are of very well-known figures:


Robert Burns (1759–96) – Scotland’s national poet and author of ‘Auld Lang Syne’ and ‘My Love Is Like A Red, Red Rose’.


Sir Walter Scott (1771–1832) – Scotland’s most famous novelist.


James Watt (1736–1819) – inventor and mechanical engineer.
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